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Lawyer House (CARR-1697) is located at 750 Pleasant Valley Road. Built c. 1850, this two-story house displays the rural Greek 
Revival style. The exterior walls are covered in brick laid in 5-course common bond, and the side-gabled roof is clad in standing-
seam metal. Beneath the eaves is a brick saw-tooth cornice. The house rests on a solid foundation of randomly laid stone. A brick 
chimney is located at each interior end of the roof, and a third brick chimney of a larger size is located at the exterior end of a large 
one-story brick addition that has been appended to the southeast elevation of the house. The modern addition features one-over-
one aluminum windows and a modern door on the rear elevation. A second addition has been added to the rear of the house. The 
rear addition features a shed roof, is clad in vinyl siding, features three sets of modern aluminum sliding doors on the rear 
elevation, and one set of sliding doors on the side elevation. The front porch is three bays wide and is supported by square wooden 
posts. Below the porch is a portion of the semi-subterranean basement, which is exposed due to the sloped home site. Brick piers 
at the basement level support the front porch and allow access from the front into the basement. The windows on the main section 
of the house include two-over-two, six-over-six, and altered three-over-six wooden double-hung sash windows and four-light fixed 
windows in the attic. All of the windows in the main section of the house feature simple decorative crowns. The windows on the 
southeast elevation were removed or shortened to allow for the construction of the modern addition. The brick that was placed 
under the window frames on the southeast elevation is visible from the interior of the house. The house features gable-end returns. 
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There are five outbuildings associated with this house. To the west is a smokehouse that features exterior walls clad in T-l 11 
siding and a pyramidal roof covered in composition shingles. North of the house is an equipment shed and animal shelter. The 
equipment shed is three bays wide and is constructed of concrete block. The gabled roof is covered in standing-seam metal. The 
animal shelter is a one-story L-shaped structure that is entirely clad in 5-V crimp metal and features a foundation of concrete 
block. North of the animal shelter are the ruins of the original bank barn that was destroyed by fire. Northeast of the house are a 
garage, pump house, and foundation of a farm building. The garage is two bays wide and is clad in T-l 11 siding. The gabled roof 
is covered in composition shingles. The pump house is a one-story concrete block structure with a gabled roof covered in 
composition shingles. 

The interior of the house has been significantly altered. The front door leads into a very small entry area that contains the stairs. 
There are modern wood doors to each side of the front entry. The first and second floors of the house each contain a traditional 
three-room plan. To the northwest, on the first floor, is one large room and to the southeast is a c. 1970 kitchen that is no longer in 
use, and the third room to the rear of the kitchen is an unused room. The room to the northwest features an enclosed fireplace, the 
only intact mantel, and what appears to be original wooden flooring. The original wall materials throughout the entire house have 
been replaced with dry wall except in the basement, the fireplaces have been removed except in the northwest room and basement, 
the flooring has been replaced throughout the entire house except for the attic, stairs, and one downstairs room, the interior trim has 
been replaced throughout a majority of the house, and the room functions have been altered. The new addition to the southeast 
contains a modern kitchen and living room. The addition on the rear of the house serves as a sunroom. The second floor contains 
three rooms in the same locations as the rooms on the first floor. There is an attic that retains the original wide pine flooring. 

The basement contains four rooms. The room in the northwest corner is a storage room that was originally used for the storage of 
canned foods. The shelves are still intact. The room in the southwest corner is the original kitchen that contains a large fireplace 
that has been rebuilt with modern brick. The rear northeast room contains the furnace, and the southeast room is currently used for 
laundry. The floor in the majority of the basement is covered with linoleum tiles. 

Historic Background: According to deed research conducted at the Carroll County Office of the Clerk of the Circuit Court in 
Westminster, the house, CARR 1697, was most likely constructed during the Lawyer family's ownership of the property. The 
estimated construction date for the house is c. 1850. John Lawyer purchased the property upon which the house is currently 
located from Daniel Bowerson in 1843 Carroll County Clerk of Circuit Court [CCOCCC] 1843: Deed Book [DB] 3:119). The 
deed recording this conveyance provided some background of the property's history. The approximately 104.5 acres conveyed 
were formed from parts of larger tracts called "Bear Meadow" and "Lookabout." Only three acres came from the "Lookabout" 
tract, while the remainder came from "Bear Meadow." John Lawyer had acquired the 104.5 acres of land from Charles Erb in 
1834, but sold the land to Bowerson in 1841 (CCOCCC 1843: DB 3: 119). 

The person probably responsible for the construction of the house was Samuel Lawyer. Samuel Lawyer was the son of John 
Lawyer. Samuel was 26 years old in 1848 when he purchased the tract on which the house is currently located (Personal Ancestral 
File 2004). The tract purchased was the same 104.5 acres John Lawyer had purchased from Daniel Bowerson in 1843 (CCOCCC 
1848: DB 8: 70). Samuel probably began construction of the house on the tract soon after purchasing the property from his father. 

Samuel Lawyer was listed in the 1860 census as a 40-year old farmer. Also living in his home were his 42 year old wife Hannah, 
his 12-year old son John T., and his 9-year old daughter Sarah. His real estate was valued at $3,000 and his personal estate at 
$1,000 (Heritage Quest 2008d). The 1870 census lists the same individuals residing in Lawyer's home with Samuel still working 
as a farmer (Heritage Quest 2008e). 
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Samuel and his wife conveyed the tract to their son, John T. Lawyer, in 1876. The tract was stated to be 104.75 acres according to 
a survey of the property performed in 1852. The tract is described as part of the "tract or parcel of land called Bear Meadow" 
(CCOCCC 1876: DB 46: 162). John T. Lawyer's mother died two years after he purchased the tract, and his father 12 years after 
the conveyance (Personal Ancestral File 2004). An 1877 map of the county did not reflect the recent conveyance and still showed 
Samuel Lawyer as the owner. 

John T. Lawyer was married to Annie Yingling at the time of his purchase of the tract. The couple did not have any children to 
survive infancy (Personal Ancestral File 2004). Sometime during John T. Lawyer's ownership of the tract, he moved to Adams 
County, Pennsylvania and remarried. In 1910 John T. Lawyer and his wife Emma L. Lawyer of Adams County, Pennsylvania sold 
the tract to John H. Brown. The total conveyance was for approximately 142.5 acres, which included the tract John T. purchased 
from his parents in 1876 and an adjacent tract he purchased in 1887 (CCOCCC 1910: DB 114: 115). A map of the county 
published in 1916 shows Brown as owner of the Lawyer Farm. 

John H. Brown was listed in the 1920 census as a 53-year old farmer. His wife Anna was 43 years old at the time of the census. 
The couple had seven sons and three daughters (Heritage Quest 2008f). Following the death of John Brown, a trustee was 
appointed by the court to auction the property. Jesse T. Lee and his wife Charlotte purchased the 142.5 acre tract in 1937 
(CCOCCC 1937: DB 166: 588). 

The Lees held the tract for less than a year when they sold it to Charles J. Meister of Baltimore CCOCCC 1938: DB 169: 49). 
Charles Meister deeded the tract to Charles Allison Morrow, Jr. and his wife Bernice of Delaware County, Pennsylvania in 1941 
(CCOCCC 1941: DB 175: 172). The Morrows, who are now listed as residents of Anne Arundel County, Maryland, conveyed two 
tracts, including the 142.5 acre tract, to Edmund Patterson Scarlett and his wife Ruth of Baltimore County in 1945 (CCOCCC 
1945: DB 186: 7). The 142.5 acre tract was deed to Arthur W. Michael and his wife Ethel of Carroll County just two years later 
(CCOCCC 1947: DB 194: 103). 

Arthur and Ethel Michael conveyed the tract to John W. Harbaugh and his wife Dorothy of Carroll County in 1956 (CCOCCC 
1956: DB 270: 506). John and Dorothy lived in the home until recently. John Harbaugh died in 2005, leaving Dorothy as the sole 
owner of the tract. Dorothy Harbaugh sold the 142.5 acre tract to Harbaugh Farm, LLC, in 2007 (CCOCCC 2007: DB 5163: 
587). The house on the tract is currently occupied by renters. 

Significance: The original section of the house was most likely built by John T. Lawyer c. 1850. The house reflects a rural version 
of the Greek Revival style with an interior three-room plan. This house has been significantly altered on the exterior and interior. 
The exterior alterations include a large rear addition, a large side addition, and altered windows. The interior of the house has not 
only been significantly altered, but has also fallen into disrepair due to neglect. Interior alterations include an altered entry area, 
the installation of a c. 1970 kitchen, fireplaces that have all been altered, removed, or enclosed, original wall materials have been 
replaced throughout the entire house with dry wall except in the basement, the flooring has been replace throughout the entire 
house except for the attic, stairs, and one downstairs room, the interior trim has been replaced throughout a majority of the house, 
and the room functions have been altered. 

While this house retains some of the characteristics of a German influenced three-room plan built in the Greek Revival style, it is 
not a good example of this type of resource. Numerous alterations have occurred to the house, thereby diminishing its integrity. In 
addition, historical research was conducted on the Lawyer House to determine whether the resource had association with any event 
or person significant in our nation's past. No event significant in our nation's past was found to be associated with the house. This 
resource has no apparent association with any event or person significant in our nation's history. 
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Historical research on the Lawyer House reveals that the resource is not associated with a specific event or a pattern of events 
marking an important period in, local, state, or national history and therefore, is recommended as not eligible for the NRHP under 
Criterion A. In addition, the house isn't associated with the life of any person significant in history, and therefore is recommended 
as not eligible for the NRHP under Criterion B. Due to the diminished architectural integrity of the house and lack of architectural 
significance the resource is recommended as not eligible for the NRHP under Criterion C. Since an archaeological survey has not 
been conducted at the property, no recommendations are made of Criterion D. The Lawyer House is recommended as not eligible 
for the NRHP. 

Heritage Quest 
2008d Image of the 1860 US Federal Census. Results for Samuel Lawyer of Carroll County, Maryland. Electronic document, 
http://persi.heritagequestonline.com/hqoweb/library/do/census/search/basic, accessed December 8, 2008. 

2008e Image of the 1870 US Federal Census. Results for Samuel Lawyer of Carroll County, Maryland. Electronic document, 
http://persi.heritagequestonline.com/hqoweb/library/do/census/search/basic, accessed December 8, 2008. 

2008f Image of the 1920 US Federal Census. Results for John H. Brown of Carroll County, Maryland. Electronic document, 
http://persi.heritagequestonline.com/hqoweb/library/do/census/search/basic, accessed December 8, 2008. 

Personal Ancestral File 
2004: Lawyer Genealogy. Electronic document, http://www.carr.0rg/~dougfish/D/pafgO6.htm, accessed December 8, 2008. 

MARYLAND HISTORICAL TRUST REVIEW 

Eligibility recommended Eligibility not recommended 

Criteria: A B C D Considerations: A B C D E _ F G 

MHT Comments: 

Reviewer, Office of Preservation Services Date 

Reviewer, National Register Program Date 

http://persi.heritagequestonline.com/hqoweb/library/do/census/search/basic
http://persi.heritagequestonline.com/hqoweb/library/do/census/search/basic
http://persi.heritagequestonline.com/hqoweb/library/do/census/search/basic
http://www.carr.0rg/~dougfish/D/pafgO6.htm


Resource Sketch Map 
750 Pleasant Valley Rd. 

Lawyer Farm 
CARR-1697 
Westminster 

Carroll County 



Lawyer House 
CARR-1697 
750 Pleasant Valley Road 
Westminster, MD 
Built c. 1850 
Private Access 

This two-story house displays the rural Greek Revival style. The exterior walls 

are covered in brick laid in 5-course common bond, and the side-gabled roof is clad in 

standing-seam metal. Beneath the eaves is a brick saw-tooth cornice. Thevhouse rests on 

a solid foundation of randomly laid stone. A brick chimney is located at each interior end 

of the roof, and a third chimney is located at the exterior end of a one-story brick addition 

that has been appended to the southeast elevation of the house. The front porch is three 

bays wide with square wooden posts. Fenestration includes two-over-two and six-over-

six wooden double-hung sash windows with simple crowns. 

There are five outbuildings associated with this house. To the west is a 

smokehouse. North of the house is an equipment shed and animal shelter. North of the 

animal shelter are the ruins of a bank barn. Northeast of the house are a garage, pump 

house, and foundation of a farm building. 

The Lawyer House is recommended as potentially eligible for the NRHP under 

Criterion C as a mid-nineteenth-century house built during the Rural Agrarian 

Intensification to Industrial/Urban Dominance Period (1750-1870) and displays the rural 

Greek Revival style. The exterior of the house maintains its original form, although an 

addition has been appended to the side. The house and non-contributing outbuildings are 

located on 142.55 acres of land and sit above a pond. 
















































































